
HERITAGE MISSISSAUGA 

Research. Remember. Record. Relate. 



BULLETS, BOMBS & BOMB GIRLS 

Revisiting the Arsenal Lands 
Lakeview (not Long Branch!) 

Rifle Ranges, Aerodrome & Small Arms Ltd. 



PART 1: THE PLACE 



EARLY HISTORY 

 The majority of the 
Colonel Smith Tract was 
sold by the family 
between 1865 and 1872 

 By 1877, Lots 5 & 6, 
Con. 3, SDS came to be 
owned by the Halliday 
and Hamilton families 

 Utilized for farming 

 Lakeview area from 1877 



EMERGENCE OF LAKEVIEW 



1945 



1954 



1958 



MODERN 

ERA 



PART 2: THE RIFLE RANGES 



RIFLE RANGES: THE BEGINNING 

 Ontario Rifle Association 
formed in 1868 for Militia 
Training 

 Used Garrison Common in 
Toronto 

 City of Toronto requested 
they relocate in 1881 

 Property secured in 
Lakeview (Lot 5, Con. 3, 
SDS) in 1891 

 Named the Long Branch 
Rifle Ranges 



LONG BRANCH RIFLE RANGES 

 Offshore target 
bombing in WWII 

 “Long Branch Camp” 

 Decline 

 Fire in 1944 

 Tragedy in 1945: 
Raymond McGinnis 

 Ranges closed in 
1957 

 Short range utilized 
for a period of time 
by Small Arms Ltd. 





PART 3: THE AERODROME 

 Aerodrome as defined by Aeronautics Act: “an area of land or water used, 
designed, prepared, equipped or set apart for the arrival, departure, 
movement or servicing of aircrafts including any buildings, installations, 
and equipment situated thereon or associated therewith.” 



CANADA’S FIRST AERODROME 

 Curtiss Aeroplanes and Motors Ltd. Registered on April 12th, 
1915 (McCurdy appointed Managing Director) 

 Agreement signed that Canadian-trained pilots for the Royal 
Navy Air Service (RNAS) to be trained here 

 Recruitment: 19 to 23 years of age, had to be British subjects 
of “pure European descent”, had to pass interview and medical 
examination, training was at their own expense 



CURTISS AVIATION SCHOOL 

 John Alexander Douglas McCurdy, Canada’s first aviator 

 Flew the “Silver Dart” in Nova Scotia in 1909 

 Long Branch Aerodrome 

 Chief Instructor Theodore Macauley with flying assistants Bert 
Acosta and Guy Gilpatric 

 First flight: June 22, 1915 





CURTISS AVIATION SCHOOL 

 400 minutes, $400 

 At their own expense 

 Flying school closed in 
December of 1916 

 261 graduates in 2 years 

 (108 served with RNAS, 21 
with RFC) 

 Later became the air and 
ground training school for 
cadets 

 Theory & practical 





TRAINING 

 Initial training was in the 
Curtiss Model “F” Flying 
Boat 

 Training was then 
transferred to the Curtiss 
JN-3 “Jenny” tandem 
control 

 Instruction: 5:30am to 
noon, 2:20pm to 8 pm, 
weather permitting 

 Students had to complete 
3 solo flights, multiple 
skills 

 Trained pilots for both the 
RNAF and RFC 



FIRST GRADUATES 

 July 11th, 1915 





TARGET PRACTICE 

 British 

Commonwealth Air 

Training Program 

 Image courtesy of Dave Cook, 

“Fading History: Volume 1” 



X & Y SQUADRONS – LONG BRANCH 

CADET WING, ROYAL FLYING CORPS 

 Curtiss Aviation School 

closed on December 20th, 

1916 

 Airfield taken over by the 

Imperial Munitions Board 

 Long Branch airfield 

became home to the 

Royal Flying Corp Cadet 

Wing training program 

 Established January 22nd, 

1917 



CADET ACCOMMODATIONS 



 1917 



 1917 



COMMEMORATION IN 1969 



PART 4: DOMINION SMALL ARMS LTD. 



SMALL ARMS LIMITED 

 Lots 4-9, Con 3, SDS 
purchased by the 
Department of National 
Defence from the Ontario 
Militia Department in 
1935 

 A Crown Corporation, 
Small Arms Ltd., was 
created on August 7, 
1940 

 The intention was to build 
an arms manufacturing 
facility 



SMALL ARMS LIMITED 

 Production of the facility 
cost $8 million 

 By June 1941, the first 
weapons were produced 
at this facility 

 General Manager was 
Colonel Malcolm Jolley 

 By the end of 1941, Small 
Arms Ltd. Employed 
1200 people and had 
produced 7589 rifles 



SMALL ARMS LIMITED 

 By 1943, the plant had 
over 5500 employees, 
working in 3 shifts, and 
produced over 30,000 
units each month 

 Women from all over 
Canada were employed in 
the company 

 In 1942, 200 prefabricated 
homes and a women’s 
dormitory were built to 
house workers in the 
Lakeview and Long 
Branch area 



SMALL ARMS LTD. 

 Wartime production ceased 

on December 31st, 1945 

 The plant had employed 

some 14,000 workers 

 Produced over 900,000 

Lee Enfield Rifles and over 

126,000 Mark II Sten 

machine guns, as well as 

many other weapons and 

ammunition needed to 

support the war effort 



WAR-TIME PRODUCTION 



CANADIAN ARSENALS  
SMALL ARMS DIVISION 

 In 1946, the site became 
home to Canadian 
Arsenals production 
facilities 

 Produced engine 
components, vehicle parts 
and engine shafts, as well 
as arms, for the Canadian 
Army 

 Production ceased at the 
facility in 1974 



BUILDING 12 

 Over time, all of the 
buildings have been 
removed from the site, 
with the exception of 
Building #12 – formerly 
the Rifle Inspection 
Facility 

 Located at 1352 
Lakeshore Road E. 

 Utilized as a Regional 
Training Facility by 
Ontario Power 
Generation (owned by 
TRCA) 



THE SMALL ARMS SITE 

1966 

2006 



“RONNIE” THE BREN-GUN GIRL 

 Veronica Foster 



SMALL ARMS WAR WORK ADS 



DORMITORY, BARRACKS & HOUSING 





















THANK YOU 

Heritage Mississauga 

“The Grange” Robinson-Adamson House 

1921 Dundas Street W., Mississauga 

905-828-8411 

www.heritagemississauga.com 


